
 
 
 
 
 
 

ZONING BOARD OF ADJUSTMENT MINUTES 
AUGUST 17, 2009 

 
Note:  Minutes are not final until reviewed and approved by the Board.  
Review and approval of minutes generally takes place at the next regularly 
scheduled meeting of the Board. 
 
The regular meeting of the Swanzey Zoning Board of Adjustment was called 
to order at 7:00 p.m. by Chair Bill Hutwelker.  Members present:  Bill 
Hutwelker, Keith Thibault, Jerry Walker, Charles Beauregard, Sr. and 
alternate Marty Geheran.  Geheran was seated for Bob Mitchell.  Town 
Planner Sara Carbonneau and Code Enforcement Officer Jim Weston were 
also present.  The agenda for the evening's meeting was read and the 
following items were addressed; 
 
1.  Minutes from July 13, 2009.  Motion by Beauregard to approve the 
minutes from July 13, 2009 as submitted.  Seconded by Walker.  Vote in 
favor:  Hutwelker, Thibault, Walker & Beauregard.  Geheran abstained.  
Minutes approved. 
 
2.  (Public Hearing) Special Exception Applications.  Thomas Duffield, 
agent on behalf of Mike Pratt, requests a special exception from Section 
V.B.2.b. to permit the conversion of a one-family dwelling to a multi-family 
dwelling (3 apartments proposed).  In addition, the applicant requests a 
special exception from Section V.B.2.a. to construct a building with a 6,400 
s.f. footprint, to house a picture frame manufacturing business and retail 
use.  The property is situated at 617 West Swanzey Road and is shown at 
Tax Map 73, Lot 29, situated in the Business District.  The property is 
owned by Michael J. Pratt and Ruth Ellen Davison.  Duffield, Pratt and 
Davison appeared before the Board.  Abutting property owner Dana 
Farnsworth was also present.  Public hearing opened on the special 
exception application from Section V.B.2.a. 
 Board members acknowledged receipt of an August 14, 2009 ZBA 
Application Summary prepared by Carbonneau.  Carbonneau reviewed the 
summary with the Board, noting that she had provided Duffield with a copy 
of the summary in advance of the meeting.   
 Weston stated that his primary concerns regarding the project 
involved the manufacturing space, noting that the 2006 IBC building code 
requires sprinkler systems for woodworking operations in excess of 2,500 
s.f.  A copy of IBC Section (F)903.2.3.1. was supplied to the Board members.  
Weston also noted that the proposed housing would also require sprinklers 
or, in the alternative, 2 hour fire walls.  Finally, Weston stated that he has 

Swanzey Zoning Board of Adjustment Minutes - August 17, 2009 
Page 1 of 4 



concerns regarding the soils at the front of the property, noting that he 
would require compacting tests due to the amount of fill present. 
 Duffield presented the application to the board, noting that the 
applicant will be modifying the application to bring the woodworking 
manufacturing portion of the business to 2,400 s.f., alleviating the necessity 
for a sprinkler system.  Carbonneau noted that the plans submitted do not 
reflect that change. 
 Duffield stated that the property consists of 4.68 acres and was 
previously surveyed.  Duffield stated that the building proposed meets all 
setback requirements.   
 Farnsworth stated that while he does not have any problem or issue 
with the project as presented, he felt that the Town should rectify the 
drainage issues in the area.  Farnsworth stated that the Boards should not 
continue to approve projects in the area until the drainage situation is 
corrected.  Farnsworth stated that 8 feet of fill was placed on the subject 
premises when it was developed and this has added to the drainage 
problems.  Duffield stated that the amount of fill was approximately 4.5 feet. 
 Duffield noted that a driveway permit would need to be obtained from 
NH-DOT.  He did not foresee any problems in obtaining the permit, as there 
was more than adequate site distance.  Duffield stated that they plan on 
raising the existing driveway "a couple of feet" to enhance site distance. 
 Duffield stated that a new septic system would be installed for the 
proposed new building.  This septic system would be an Enviro-septic 
system and would be installed under the front parking lot.   
 Duffield explained the proposed drainage on the site, noting that 
water would be collected in a catch basin and routed to the drainage swale 
along the south side of the property.  In addition, Duffield noted that the 
well serving the current residence provides approximately 12 gpm and is 
adequate to serve both the proposed apartments and the 
manufacturing/retail use.  It was noted that the residence is currently 
served by underground utilities - single phase.  Weston stated that another 
service would need to be installed for the manufacturing/retail use of the 
property, as it would need to have 3-phase power. 
 Due to interruptions in the testimony from Farnsworth, he was asked 
by the Chair to leave the premises.  Farnsworth left the public hearing at 
7:30 p.m. 
 Duffield stated that the applicant proposes a manufacturing area of 
2,400 s.f. that also results in the change to the outside storage area and 
loading docks.  Carbonneau stated that accurate plans reflecting the 
changes must be provided. 
 Parking was discussed and the Board questioned Carbonneau as to 
whether adequate parking was provided for the proposed uses on the 
property.  Carbonneau noted that based on the limited information 
provided, she could not make a final determination as to whether adequate 
parking is provided. 
 Board members discussed the potential of noise from the equipment, 
specifically saws and the dust collection system.  Pratt stated that "noise 
would not be an issue," as they would be installing a $25,000.00 state of the 

Swanzey Zoning Board of Adjustment Minutes - August 17, 2009 
Page 2 of 4 



art dust collection system.  Pratt had no further information on the system.  
However, Pratt stated that the entire dust collection system would be 
contained entirely within the building and the building would be "super-
insulated" so that "you won't hear any noise from the outside."  Board 
members stated that they needed additional documentation and information 
about the dust collection system.  Duffield noted that there will be a 
landscaped buffer between the residences and the manufacturing use that 
would help to reduce noise.  Board members stated that this information 
needs to be shown on the plan. 
 Duffield stated that the details of the proposal would be established 
before submission to the Planning Board and would be determined by the 
Planning Board.  Board members stated that the information is required at 
this time in order to effectively evaluate the criteria for granting the special 
exceptions.  
 Board members stated that building elevations should be provided, as 
well as specific information on the plan regarding lighting.  Board members 
noted that general representations were made regarding lighting, building 
elevations, drainage, etc., but no specifics were provided either in the 
application or on the plan.  
 Pratt stated that the manufacturing business and the retail business 
would operate from 8 a.m. to 5 p.m. Monday through Saturday. 
 Board members expressed their concern that there was not enough 
detail on the plans or in the application.  Duffield noted that this project 
came together very quickly and apologized for the gaps in information.  
Duffield requested that the Board continue this matter to another meeting 
and asked the Board to consider scheduling a special meeting due to time 
constraints (bank financing, building permits prior to winter, etc.)  Motion 
by Beauregard to continue the public hearing on the special exception 
request from Section V.B.2.a. until Tuesday, August 25, 2009 at 7:00 p.m. 
without further notice (Note:  the reconvened public hearing will be held 
at the Swanzey Police Department, 34 Eaton Road).  Seconded by 
Walker.  Vote:  All in favor. 
 Public hearing opened on the special exception application from 
Section V.B.2.b.  Duffield stated that the information from the public 
hearing regarding Section V.B.2.a. is incorporated into this presentation.  
He noted that the units would be 1 bedroom units.   
 The conversion of the existing one-family residence to a 3-unit 
apartment would utilize the existing septic system.  Duffield stated that 
each unit would contain 1 bedroom.  Carbonneau noted that the number of 
bedrooms per unit was not indicated on the plans nor in the application.  
Carbonneau stated that this fact should be memorialized on the 
plans/application.  Duffield stated that it is possible that the Sub-surface 
Systems Bureau may require the expansion of the existing leach field (the 
current system is designed to serve 4 bedrooms).  Duffield noted that the 
State requires one-bedroom apartment units to be calculated as a 1.5 
bedroom unit, resulting in the need for a system sized for 4.5 bedrooms.  If 
the State does require a system designed for 4.5 bedrooms, the existing 
leach field would need to be expanded.   

Swanzey Zoning Board of Adjustment Minutes - August 17, 2009 
Page 3 of 4 



 Carbonneau noted that expansion of the existing leach field would 
require a variance as the existing system is non-conforming.  Carbonneau 
explained that when the system was installed, the leach field was 125 feet 
from wetlands and was conforming.  However, after the system was installed 
a pond was constructed (considered to be wetlands) and encroached upon 
the 125 foot setback, rendering the leachfield as non-conforming..   
 Duffield stated that there was adequate parking provided for the 
residential use.  Board members questioned the use of the shared driveway 
(to be used by both the manufacturing/retail use and the apartments).  
Duffield stated that it was his opinion that the residential use of the 
driveway would not be negatively impacted by the commercial use, noting 
that the primary activity on the property will occur near the road.  Board 
members discussed whether or not provisions for a walkway next to the 
driveway should be provided, in the event that a school age child is in 
residence in the apartments and would need to walk to the front of the 
property to access the school bus. 
 Due to the number of unresolved issues, Board members felt that the 
consideration of this application should also be continued to the August 25, 
2009 public hearing.  Motion by Thibault to continue the public hearing on 
the special exception request from Section V.B.2.b. until Tuesday, August 
25, 2009 at 7:00 p.m. without further notice (Note:  the reconvened public 
hearing will be held at the Swanzey Police Department, 34 Eaton Road).  
Seconded by Beauregard.  Vote:  All in favor. 
 
2.  Voting on alternate member.  Carbonneau noted that there were no 
nominations for this position.  Will re-notice the position for consideration at 
the September 21, 2009 meeting. 
 
Motion by Thibault to adjourn.  Seconded by Walker.  Vote:  All in favor.  
Meeting adjourned at 10:15 p.m. 
 
Submitted by, 
 
 
 
Sara H. Carbonneau 
Town Planner 

Swanzey Zoning Board of Adjustment Minutes - August 17, 2009 
Page 4 of 4 


